2002

Hentsch Henchoz & CIE v. Philippe D. Gubbay,
Capital Suisse, S.A., Capital Suisse Securities, Inc.,
Capital Suisse, Inc., Zooley Services Limited,
Zooley of Utah, Inc., Fernland Limited, Douglas P.
Hoyt, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from an order of the Honorable Ronald E. Nehring, Third Judicial District Court, dated October 11, 2001, denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and proper venue pursuant to a mandatory forum selection clause. The order denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss was made final when Judge Nehring certified the entry of Final Judgment in favor of Appellee and against Appellants by an order dated July 17, 2002. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1953, as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal raises one issue: Did the trial court err in denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss Appellee’s claims against them for lack of jurisdiction and proper venue where, pursuant to a mandatory forum selection clause contained in the agreement executed between the parties, Appellee agreed to subject itself and disputes regarding the purchase of shares in the investment fund operated by Appellants to the jurisdiction of the British Virgin Islands courts, applying the laws of the British Virgin Islands.

Although there is differing authority, the Court’s standard of review of a trial court’s refusal to enforce a forum selection clause appears to be an abuse of discretion

standard. *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809, 810 (Utah 1993) (holding that a court abuses its discretion in enforcing a forum-selection clause where the clause is “so unreasonable that its enforcement would be . . . against both logic and the facts of the record”).¹

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The following cases are determinative of the issue stated: *Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.*, 417 U.S. 506 (1974); *Bremem v. Zapata Off-Shore Co.*, 407 U.S. 1 (1972); *Riley v. Kingsley Underwriting Agencies, Ltd.*, 969 F.2d 953 (10th Cir. 1992); *Phone Directories Co. v. Henderson*, 8 P.3d 256 (Utah 2000); and *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809 (Utah 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Hentsch Henchoz & Cie (“HH&C”) is one of the largest, most powerful financial institutions in the world, with offices around the globe. HH&C filed its Verified Complaint on August 2, 2001, alleging that Appellants had engaged in a conspiracy and fraudulent scheme to defraud it through Appellants’ operation of an investment fund. According to its Complaint, HH&C negotiated a transaction with a British Virgin Islands company, Appellant Capital Suisse, S.A. (“Capital Suisse”), that listed certain directors, advisors and service providers from various domiciles, one of which was Salt Lake City,

¹ In *Riley v. Kingsley Underwriting Agencies*, 969 F.2d 953, 956 (10th Cir. 1992), however, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals states: “The enforceability of [a] forum selection” clause is a “question of law which we review de novo.” See also *Excell, Inc. v. Sterling Boiler Mech., Inc.*, 106 F.3d 318, 320 (10th Cir. 1997); *SBKC Serv. Corp. v. 1111 Prospect Partners, L.P.*, 105 F.3d 578, 581 (10th Cir. 1997).

Utah. Although an acknowledged sophisticated investor, HH&C claims that it was defrauded into entering into seven separate Subscription Agreements with Capital Suisse, whereby HH&C invested a total of \$25 million into the British Virgin Islands investment fund operated by Appellants.

In order to obtain redress, HH&C first sought party status in a proceeding in Spain involving Appellants Gubbay, Zooley Services Limited (“Zooley”) and Capital Suisse. When HH&C could not obtain a favorable ruling in Spain, it seized upon the Utah service provider and sought out a Utah court as its next battleground, despite the existence of a contractual mandatory forum selection clause in each of the seven Subscription Agreements executed by HH&C that limit litigation regarding the Agreements to courts in the British Virgin Islands.

The mandatory forum selection clause contained in each of the Subscription Agreements, executed in the French language in Switzerland by representatives of HH&C, Pierre Jolliet and Francois Messeiller, provides:

We agree that any legal action the Funds may be the object of, be brought before the court of the British Virgin Islands, and ***we renounce to take any possible legal proceeding against the Funds under other jurisdictions.*** However, we agree that the Funds may choose to start legal proceedings against us under any jurisdiction directly connected with the place of sending of the mail or any other aspect of our file.

Record of Case No. 010905355 (“Record”) at pp. 347, 351-52 (emphasis added).

Immediately after HH&C filed its Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, Appellants moved to stay or dismiss the case, on August 15, 2001, on

the basis of the mandatory forum selection clause. [Record at pp. 235-36.] The trial court conducted a hearing on Appellants' motion on September 5, 2001. Subsequently, in a Minute Entry dated October 11, 2001, the court denied Appellants' motion and refused to enforce the forum selection clause. The court held that the forum selection clause was unenforceable because the Subscription Agreements as a whole were the product of fraud and, in the court's opinion, enforcement would be unfair. [Record at p. 630.]

On July 17, 2002, the trial court granted HH&C's Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 41(a)(2)(ii). HH&C's Motions were unopposed by Appellants as their attorneys had withdrawn from the case and Appellants were unable to retain other counsel. The court then entered a final judgment against Appellants by an order dated July 18, 2002. Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on August 15, 2002.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. HH&C is a Swiss private banking limited partnership with its principal place of business in Lausanne, Switzerland. HH&C is a member of a group of private bankers established in Geneva in 1796 and is authorized to engage in banking activities by the Swiss Federal Banking Commission. [Record of Case No. 010906631 ("Supplemental Record") at pp. 4-5.]

2. Capital Suisse is a company organized under the laws of the British Virgin Islands. It operates an investment fund (the “Fund”) that has been recognized as a Professional Fund under the Mutual Funds Act of the British Virgin Islands. [*Id.* at pp. 129-30.]

3. HH&C alleges in its Complaint that Appellants fraudulently induced HH&C to invest approximately \$25 million in the Fund, which Appellants allegedly improperly failed to redeem in accordance with HH&C’s request. [*Id.* at pp. 2-3.]

4. In connection with each of its seven separate purchases of shares of the Fund, HH&C and/or its authorized agents executed a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”). [*Id.* at pp. 13-14, 223-250.]

5. HH&C executed each of the Subscription Agreements in Switzerland. [*Id.* at pp. 223-250.]

6. According to HH&C’s own English translation, Paragraph 10 of each Subscription Agreement provides as follows:

I/We hereby confirm that this Subscription Agreement shall be governed and enforced in accordance with BVI [British Virgin Islands] law, without giving effect to its conflict of laws provisions.

[*Id.* at p. 252.]

7. Paragraph 12 of each Subscription Agreement provides:

We agree that any legal action the Funds may be the object of, be brought before the court of the British Virgin Islands, and *we renounce to take any possible legal proceedings against the Funds under other jurisdictions.* However, we agree that the Funds may choose to start legal proceedings

against us under any jurisdiction directly connected with the place of sending of the mail or any other aspect of our file.

[Record at pp. 347, 351-52 (emphasis added)].

8. HH&C paid for the shares of the Fund by telegraphic transfer to a bank in Gibraltar. [Supplemental Record at pp. 223-250, 251-53.]

9. Through a series of letters and other demands beginning in April 2001, HH&C requested to redeem all of its shares in the Fund. [Record at pp. 280-86.]

10. The Confidential Prospectus provided to HH&C by Appellants states:

It may not always be possible to effect payments of Shares at the date of redemption due to restriction imposed on the Fund by law or contracts in relation to the resale of securities or because of market conditions of certain securities the Fund has invested in, and due to the policy to hold small cash reserves.

[Supplemental Record at p. 144.]

11. On June 1, 2001, Appellant Ferland Limited (“Ferland”), which is the sole director of Capital Suisse, explained to HH&C that it would be impossible to redeem all of HH&C’s shares in the Fund at that time. Ferland, however, offered to tender restricted shares in another company that Appellants reasonably believed met or exceeded the value of HH&C’s investment in the Fund. [*Id.* at p. 281.]

12. Ferland also offered to redeem Plaintiff’s investment in cash within four months of June 1, 2001. Ferland specifically stated: “We anticipate that cash should be available in sufficient amounts to redeem shares in approximately four months from now.” [*Id.*]

13. HH&C rejected the election by letter dated June 6, 2001. [Record at p. 288.]

14. HH&C thereafter filed its Verified Complaint in the Third District Court of Salt Lake County on August 2, 2001 claiming that Appellants engaged in a fraudulent scheme to defraud HH&C of the nearly \$25 million it invested in the Fund. [Supplemental Record at p. 2.]

15. On August 15, 2001, Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss with the trial court, requesting that the court dismiss HH&C's claims against them for lack of lack of jurisdiction and improper venue due to the existence of the mandatory forum selection clause contained in each Subscription Agreement. [Record at pp. 235-36.]

16. In the trial court's Minute Entry dated October 11, 2001 (the "Minute Entry"), which the court stated would serve as its final order, the court denied Appellants' Motion to Dismiss, refusing to apply the mandatory forum selection clause in each Subscription Agreement. The court held that the forum selection clause was unenforceable because HH&C had alleged that the Subscription Agreements as a whole were the product of fraud and in the court's opinion enforcement would be unfair. [*Id.* at 632.]

17. On July 17, 2002, the trial court granted HH&C's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment. The Motions were unopposed by Appellants as Appellants' counsel had withdrawn and substitute counsel was not retained. [*Id.* at pp.

1841-42, 1845-1850.]

18. The trial court entered a final judgment against Appellants on July 18, 2002. [*Id.* at pp. 1852-55.]

19. Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on August 15, 2002. [*Id.* at 1874-75.]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the well-settled precedent of this Court and the United States Supreme Court, a forum selection clause contained in an agreement is prima facie valid and should be given effect unless the party opposing the clause's enforcement meets its heavy burden of clearly showing that enforcement would be "unreasonable and unjust" or that the clause itself was procured by fraud. *See Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809 (Utah 1993); *Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co.*, 407 U.S. 1 (1972). The trial court in this case erred by failing to apply the Prows factors and thereby reached the erroneous conclusion that the mandatory forum selection clause found in each of the Subscription Agreements was unfair and procured by fraud.

Under Utah law, a forum selection clause is unfair and unreasonable only where the party seeking to avoid the clause plainly shows that the contractual forum will be "[so] gravely difficult and inconvenient" that the party will "be deprived of his day in court." *Prows*, 868 P.2d at 812. HH&C presented no such evidence to the trial court nor did the trial court consider such evidence in reaching its decision. Rather, the court held

that the mandatory forum selection clause at issue is “unfair” because, in the court’s opinion, the clause “appears” to merely create an *imbalance* in the parties’ ability to seek redress through the courts.

It is undisputed that HH&C is a sophisticated investor. HH&C made no argument and produced no evidence that its bargaining position was unequal to Appellants’ nor did it claim that in any way it was coerced into agreeing to the forum selection clause at issue. The trial court’s conclusion that the forum selection clause is “unfair” based solely on the clause’s apparent one-sidedness is unsupported and contrary to well-reasoned precedent. The trial erred in holding that the forum selection clause is “unfair.”

The trial court also erred in holding that the forum selection clause should not be enforced because it is the product of fraud. The court held that because HH&C had sufficiently *alleged* that each Subscription Agreement, as a whole, was the product of fraud, HH&C had sufficiently alleged that the forum selection clause in each Subscription Agreement is unfair.

It is undisputed that HH&C did not establish or even allege in the trial court that the forum selection clause itself was procured by fraud. It is well-settled law that in order to set aside a forum selection clause for fraud there must be a well-founded claim that the inclusion of that clause itself in the contract, standing apart from the whole agreement, was the product of fraud. *See, e.g., Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.*, 417 U.S. 506, 519, n. 14 (1974); *Riley v. Kingsley Underwriting Agencies, Ltd.*, 969 F.2d 953 (10th Cir. 1992);

see also Prows, 868 P.2d at 812 n.5. The trial court specifically rejected this authority and instead relied exclusively upon the Eighth Circuit’s minority position in *Farmland Industries, Inc. v. Frazier-Parrott Commodities, Inc.*, 806 F.2d 848 (8th Cir. 1986), in holding that “a choice of forum provision may also be disregarded when the party seeking to avoid it can demonstrate that the contract incorporating it is the product of fraud.” Record at p. 630. *Farmland* is contrary to Utah law, United States Supreme Court precedent, and, in any event is distinguishable, as discussed below. The trial court erred when it ignored the law of this Court and the United States Supreme Court and its decision should therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

The trial court refused to enforce the mandatory forum selection clause contained in each of the seven Subscription Agreements on two grounds. First, the court found that the forum selection clause was “unfair.” Second, the court held that each of the Subscription Agreements was, as a whole, the product of fraud. Neither ground is supported in law or fact. For the reasons set forth below, the trial court, in refusing to enforce the mandatory forum selection clause, committed reversible error.

I. FORUM SELECTION CLAUSES SHOULD BE ENFORCED UNLESS THEY ARE UNREASONABLE, UNJUST OR SPECIFICALLY OBTAINED THROUGH FRAUD.

In *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809 (Utah 1993), this Court expressly adopted Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 80. Section 80 reads:

The parties' agreement as to the place of the action will be given effect unless it is unfair and unreasonable.

Prows, 868 P.2d at 812, quoting Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 80 (Supp. 1988). The Court also held that under Section 80, “a plaintiff who brings an action in violation of a choice-of-forum provision bears the burden of proving that enforcing the clause is unfair and unreasonable.” *Id.*, citing § 80 cmt. c.

The Court's holding in *Prows* is consistent with the well-established precedent of the United States Supreme Court. In *Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co.*, 407 U.S. 1 (1972), the Supreme Court rejected as a “parochial concept” the idea that “notwithstanding solemn contracts . . . all disputes must be resolved under our laws and in our courts,” and held that courts presumptively must enforce forum selection clauses in international transactions. *Bremen*, 407 U.S. at 9. Since *Bremen*, the Supreme Court has consistently followed this rule and, in fact, has enforced every forum selection clause in an international contract that has come before it. See *Vimar Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. v. M/V Sky Reefer*, 515 U.S. 528, 540-42 (1995); *Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute*, 499 U.S. 585, 595 (1991); *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 640 (1985); *Scherk*, 417 U.S. at 515-16.

The Supreme Court has also held that public policy weighs strongly in favor of the presumption set forth in *Bremen*, because uncertainty as to the forum for disputes and applicable law “will almost inevitably exist with respect to any contract touching two or more countries.” *Scherk*, 417 U.S. at 516. In other words, “[t]he elimination of all such

uncertainties by agreeing in advance on a forum acceptable to both parties is an indispensable element in international trade, commerce, and contracting.” *Bremen*, 407 U.S. at 13-14. The Supreme Court has therefore instructed American courts to enforce forum selection clauses in the interests of international comity and out of deference to the integrity and proficiency of foreign courts, “even assuming that a contrary result would be forthcoming in a domestic context.” *Shearson/ American Exp., Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 255 n.11 (1987).

In *Stewart Organization v. Ricoh Corp.*, 487 U.S. 22 (1988), Justice Kennedy summarized the strong presumption in favor of the enforceability of forum selection clauses as follows: “a valid forum selection clause is given controlling weight in all but the most exceptional cases.” *Id.* at 33.

Consistent with *Prows*, the Supreme Court has also held that a freely negotiated mandatory forum selection clause is “prima facie valid” unless the party challenging its enforcement can “clearly show that enforcement would be unreasonable and unjust” or that the clause itself was “invalid for such reasons as fraud or overreaching.” *Bremen*, 407 U.S. at 10. The party resisting enforcement on these grounds bears a “heavy burden of proof.” *Id.* at 17.

II. THE TRIAL COURT’S CONCLUSION THAT THE MANDATORY FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE AT ISSUE IS “UNREASONABLE” OR “UNFAIR” WAS ERRONEOUS.

The trial court held that the mandatory forum selection clause contained in each of the Subscription Agreements was “unfair” because it “poses no limitation whatsoever on the forums available to Credit [sic] Suisse to commence an action against plaintiff, while limiting plaintiff to bringing actions in the British Virgin Islands.” Record at p. 631. It concluded that such a forum selection clause “appears to serve no end other than creating an imbalance in the respective abilities of the parties to the Subscription Agreement to seek redress through the courts.” *Id.* at p. 632.

The trial court cited no authority in support of its holding that the a forum selection clause at issue is unfair merely because it grants one party to the agreement the broader ability to select a forum of its own choice as opposed to the other party whose forum is chosen for it. Indeed, pertinent authority provides that such forum selection clauses are not facially “unfair” and are, in fact, enforceable. *See, e.g., Karl Koch Erecting Co., Inc. v. New York Convention Center Dev’p. Corp.*, 838 F.2d 656, 659 (2nd Cir. 1988), *aff’d*, 656 F. Supp. 464 (S.D.N.Y. 1987).²

² The trial court curiously states in the *Minute Entry* that “the imbalance in the allocation of rights under the forum selection agreement itself implies that the tentacles of fraud have included the forum selection provision within their reach.” Record at p. 632. The court provides no basis for this statement. Moreover, HH&C produced no evidence and in fact, *did not even allege*, that the mandatory forum selection clause was itself procured by fraud.

This Court in *Prows* held that in order to meet the burden of demonstrating “unreasonableness” or “unjustness” under Section 80, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the “***chosen state*** [in the forum selection clause] would be so seriously an inconvenient forum that to require the plaintiff to bring suit there would be unjust.” 868 P.2d at 812 (emphasis added). On this point, as noted by this Court in *Prows*, the United States Supreme Court has stated:

[I]t should be incumbent on the party seeking to escape his contract to show that trial in the contractual forum will be [so] gravely difficult and inconvenient that he will for all practical purposes be deprived of his day in court. ***Absent that, there is no basis for concluding that it would be unfair, unjust or unreasonable*** to hold that party to its bargain.

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