2002

Hentsch Henchoz & CIE v. Philippe D. David
Gubbay, Capital Suisse, S.A, Capital Suisse
Securites, Inc., Capital Suisse, Inc., Zooley Services
Limited, Zooley of Utah, Inc., Fernland Limited,
Douglas P. Hoyt, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should dismiss this appeal without addressing the merits, because the Capital Suisse defendants have demonstrated contempt and disdain for the Utah courts (as well as the Spanish courts). They obstructed every effort by HH&C in Spain and Utah to trace and recover the \$25 million that they stole and laundered through their Salt Lake City bank accounts. They told the Spanish court that jurisdiction was proper in Utah. They told Judge Nehring that jurisdiction was proper in Spain, and then the British Virgin Islands. They violated Spanish court orders freezing their Gibraltar bank accounts by wiring HH&C's money to Utah. They violated Judge Nehring's order to answer interrogatories and produce documents; instead, they shipped all their documents and records from Utah to Spain, effectively destroying evidence. They violated Judge Nehring's order to return the documents to Utah, stating that they would refuse to participate in discovery or recognize the jurisdiction of the Utah courts any further. They purported to withdraw their Answer to

HH&C's Verified Complaint, and their lawyers withdrew from representation.

Now, to undue the summary judgment ultimately entered against them, the Capital Suisse defendants through new lawyers seek to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court on their behalf. This Court should reject the invocation, because the Capital Suisse defendants have no right to appellate review when they stand in violation of Judge Nehring's orders. Their bad faith and delay, including their removal of records, destruction of evidence, and refusal to recognize the jurisdiction of the Utah courts, has precluded HH&C from tracing and recovering its \$25 million. This Court therefore should dismiss the appeal with prejudice.

In the alternative, this Court should affirm Judge Nehring's ruling refusing to enforce the one-sided forum selection clause or to require HH&C to bring suit in the BVI. Following *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809 (Utah 1993), and Section 80 of the *Restatement (Second) of Conflicts*, Judge Nehring found that HH&C met its burden to prove that the forum selection clause was both unfair and the product of fraud.

On appeal, Capital Suisse does nothing more than disagree with Judge Nehring's findings that HH&C met its burden. Judge Nehring found that the Fund was a sham and that the "tentacles of fraud" reached the forum selection clause, so Capital Suisse now attempts to portray the fraud as a legitimate business transaction between sophisticated international businesses. There is no small irony in this bald assertion on appeal, since the Capital Suisse defendants refused repeated invitations from Judge Nehring to show that the Fund was legitimate, that they had invested HH&C's \$25 million, and that they had disbursed money from the Salt Lake City bank accounts in the ordinary course of business.

Judge Nehring found that the forum selection clause was unfair and unreasonable, so Capital Suisse attempts to persuade this Court that there are valid business reasons for a clause that requires the “investor” alone to bring suit in the BVI, and to select the BVI as a forum. Incredibly, Capital Suisse attempts to persuade this Court that there are no contacts between the parties and Utah, even though several Capital Suisse defendants maintained offices and bank accounts here, laundered and wired HH&C’s money here, kept their records and the PetsMarketing records here, and told the Spanish Criminal Court that the commercial relations between the parties were centered in Utah, and that jurisdiction was proper in Utah.

All of the facts presented to Judge Nehring confirm his findings that the purpose and effect of the forum selection clause was to not to bring certainty or stability to a legitimate international business transaction, but to further a fraud by requiring the victims to bring suit in a distant forum where no assets were to be found or recovered. Because this Court can find an abuse of discretion only if “no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court,” this Court should affirm Judge Nehring’s findings that the forum selection clause was unfair and unconscionable, and the product of fraud.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE APPEAL, BECAUSE APPELLANTS CONTEMPTUOUSLY DISOBEYED JUDGE NEHRING’S ORDERS, AND REFUSED TO RECOGNIZE THE JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURTS.

This Court should dismiss this appeal without considering the merits, because the Capital Suisse defendants have repeatedly and willfully disobeyed Judge Nehring’s orders (as well as the orders of the Spanish Criminal Court), destroyed evidence, and refused to

recognize the jurisdiction of the Utah courts. As Judge Nehring emphasized in his summary judgment ruling, the Capital Suisse defendants contempt for the judicial process crescendoed only after they sought relief from both the trial court and this Court (by interlocutory review), and only after Judge Nehring ordered them to finally disclose what they had done with HH&C's money. As a result of their wilful disobedience of Judge Nehring's orders, HH&C has been unable to trace and to recover its \$25 million, and has been unable to conduct supplementary proceedings following the entry of summary judgment. The Capital Suisse defendants have no right or privilege to seek relief from summary judgment from this Court.

The Utah Court of Appeals has consistently held that an appellate court has the authority and the discretion to stay or to dismiss the appeal of an appellant who has disobeyed the trial court's orders. In *Von Hake v. Thomas*, 858 P.2d 193 (Utah App. 1999), *cert. granted*, 868 P.2d 95 (Utah), *remanded*, No. 930457, the Court of Appeals dismissed an appeal of a fraud judgment sua sponte, because the appellant had refused to comply with district court orders to produce documents in supplemental proceedings to enforce the judgment, and had used "improper and dilatory tactics to frustrate the district court orders and to avoid appearing in court." *See* 858 P.2d at 194. The Court of Appeals "recognized the general rule that a party who is in contempt will not be heard by the court when he wishes to make a motion or be granted a favor." *Id.* at 193. Following remand, the Court of Appeals clarified that the dismissal was without prejudice, and again emphasized that an appellate court has "discretionary authority to dismiss the appeals of contumacious litigants under terms which are fair and just given the circumstances of a particular case." *Von Hake*

v. Thomas, 881 P.2d 895, 898 (Utah. App. 1994).

In *Cummings v. Cummings*, 1999 Utah App. 356, 993 P.2d 248, the Court of Appeals emphasized that it had inherent authority to dismiss an appeal until an appellant proved that it had satisfied a judgment entered by the trial court. The appellant (a husband in a divorce action) disobeyed the trial court's order to make mortgage payments on a building that had been awarded to his wife. The building was sold to avoid foreclosure, and the wife obtained two money judgments against the husband that remained unsatisfied. The Court of Appeals stated that, because the appellant violated the trial court's order, "and has now left the state in the face of a court order requiring him to be deposed in connection with appellee's efforts to collect" on the judgments, the Court of Appeals could "elect" to dismiss the appeal until appellant submitted proof that he has satisfied the judgments." The Court concluded that dismissal was unnecessary, however, because "the appeal can be easily affirmed on the merits." 993 P.2d at 251.

This Court has not yet considered whether it has the authority and discretion to dismiss an appeal when the appellant had violated the orders of the trial court, but the Utah Court of Appeals decisions are consistent with court decisions throughout the country. All of these decisions rest on the fundamental principle that the

appellate court has the power to stay or dismiss the appeal of any litigant who has contumaciously defied the order of the [trial] court. A party to an action cannot, with right or reason, ask the aid and assistance of a court in hearing his demands while he stands in an attitude of contempt to legal order and processes of the courts of this state.

Alioto Fish Co. v. Alioto, 34 Cal. Rptr.2d 244, 250 (Cal. App. 1994). These courts have

dismissed appeals where an appellant violated court orders to answer interrogatories or to produce documents, had transferred records or assets beyond the jurisdiction of the Court, or had simply left the jurisdiction, even if the trial court made no formal finding of contempt. *See, e.g., Alioto Fish Co., supra*, 34 Cal.Rptr.2d at 250-51 (power to stay or dismiss appeal applies to “wilful disobedience or obstructive tactics” without a formal adjudication of contempt); *TMS, Inc. v. Aiharra*, 83 Cal.Rptr.2d 834, 835 (Cal. App. 1999) (dismissing appeal where judgment debtor left the jurisdiction and refused court order to answer post-judgment interrogatories); *Schmidt v. Schmidt*, 610 A.2d 1374, 1376-77 (Del. 1992) (dismissing appeal in divorce action challenging the division of property where the appellant violated a court order to place money in escrow pending division of property, and left the jurisdiction to avoid enforcement of a contempt finding); *Keidaish v. Smith*, 400 So.2d 90 (Fla. App. 1981) (dismissing appeal where appellant violated temporary injunction by transferring money and assets out of the jurisdiction); *Stewart v. Stewart*, 372 P.2d 697, 699 (Ariz. 1962) (en banc) (dismissal of an appeal is “a reasonable method of sustaining the effectiveness of the state’s judicial process,” where obdurate appellants have disobeyed trial court orders to pay alimony, attorneys' fees, court costs, or to report for a supplemental examination”).

The Capital Suisse defendants’ wilful disobedience of Judge Nehring’s orders, their removal and effective destruction of evidence, and their refusal to participate in discovery or acknowledge the jurisdiction of the Utah courts, all after they vigorously participated in the litigation for months, have irreparably damaged HH&C’s ability to trace and to recover

its money. This Court therefore should dismiss this appeal with prejudice. If this Court does not dismiss the appeal, the Court should affirm Judge Nehring's careful exercise of his discretion on the merits.⁶

II. JUDGE NEHRING ACTED WITHIN HIS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO ENFORCE THE ONE-SIDED FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE.

In denying Capital Suisse's motion to enforce the one-sided forum selection clause in the Subscription Agreements, Judge Nehring followed this Court's ruling in *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809 (Utah 1993), and Section 80 of the *Restatement (Second) of Conflicts*. Judge Nehring held:

Utah has adopted Section 80 of the *Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws*, which states that, "The parties' agreement as to the place of the action will be given effect unless it is unfair or unreasonable." *Prows v. Pinpoint Retail Systems, Inc.*, 868 P.2d 809,812 (Utah 1993), quoting *Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws*, Section 80 (Supp. 1988). Presumptive validity of a choice of forum provision places on the party challenging it the burden of proving that it is unfair or unreasonable. A choice of forum provision may also be disregarded when the party seeking to avoid it can demonstrate that the contract incorporating it is a product of fraud. *Farmland Industries Inc., v. Frazier-Parrott Commodities, Inc.*, 806 F.2d 848 (8th Cir. 1986). I find that plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts to overcome the presumption the choice of forum clause in the Subscription Agreement is enforceable by making prima facie showings that the choice of forum clause is unfair and that the contract as a whole is the product of fraud. (Add. 3-4.)

On appeal, Capital Suisse does not dispute that *Prows* and Section 80 of the

⁶ In certain circumstances, the appellate court may give an appellant a grace period to comply with the orders of the trial court before dismissing the appeal. *See, e.g., D'Ashton v. D'Ashton*, 790 P.2d 590, 593 (Utah App. 1990) (staying dismissal of an appeal for 30 days, to give the appellant, who was evading service in a divorce action, an opportunity to submit to service of process). As in *Cummings v. Cummings*, *supra*, however, the Capital Suisse defendants cannot remedy their wilful and contemptuous disobedience other than by proof that they can satisfy a judgment. Unless the Capital Suisse defendants post a supersedeas bond to fully satisfy the judgment, they should not be allowed to pursue their appeal.

Restatement (Second) of Conflicts provide the proper legal standard. *See* App. Br. at 6-7, 15-16. Rather, Capital Suisse asserts that HH&C failed to meet its burden to establish that the clause was unfair or unreasonable, or that it was the product of fraud. *Id.* at 19, 23. For the reasons stated below, Capital Suisse’s challenges to Judge Nehring’s factual conclusions and to his exercise of discretion have no merit.

A. All the Facts Presented Confirm That Judge Nehring Acted Within His Discretion In Finding That Enforcement of the Forum Selection Clause Would Be Unfair and Unreasonable.

In determining that HH&C had met its burden to prove that the forum selection was unfair and unreasonable, Judge Nehring’s Minute Entry focused on one of the many facts presented— the forum selection was one-sided, because it required HH&C to bring suit in the BVI, but allowed Capital Suisse to bring suit anywhere in the world. Judge Nehring contrasted this one-sided forum selection clause with the forum selection clause in *M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co.*, 407 U.S. 1 (1972), in which the “selection of a London forum was clearly a reasonable effort to bring vital certainty to this international transaction and to provide a neutral forum experienced and capable in the resolution of admiralty litigation.” (Add. 5, quoting *M/S Bremen*, *supra*, 407 U.S. at 425). Judge Nehring noted that the Capital Suisse forum selection clause has no “such laudable and evenhanded commercial objectives” (*id.*):

Typically, a forum selection clause will identify one forum to be the site of litigation spawned by an agreement. That is not the case here. The Subscription Agreement forum selection provision poses no limitation whatsoever on the forums available to [Capital] Suisse to commence an action against plaintiff, while limiting plaintiff to bringing actions in the British Virgin Islands. Such a provision cannot, unlike the forum selection provision

in *M/S Bremen*, claim to reflect a reasonable effort to bring vital certainty to an international transaction or provide a neutral forum experienced and capable in the resolution of disputes arising from the Subscription Agreement. To the contrary, the forum selection clause appears to serve no end other than creating an imbalance in the respective abilities of the parties to the Subscription Agreement to seek redress through the courts. (*Id.*)

Capital Suisse disputes Judge Nehring’s findings by asserting that a forum-selection clause is not unfair simply because it is one-sided, and that Judge Nehring’s finding is “unsupported and contrary to well-reasoned precedent.” App. Br. at 14. Capital Suisse cites no support for this assertion,⁷ and it is a straw man in any event. Judge Nehring did not find that a one-sided forum selection clause is inherently unfair, or that in other transactions under other circumstances, there could never be valid reasons for such a clause. Rather, the one-sided nature of the clause was one fact among many that led Judge Nehring to the conclusion that its purpose and effect was not to “bring vital certainty to an international transaction or to provide a neutral forum” (Add. 5), but to further the fraud.

HH&C submits that Judge Nehring could have reached no other conclusion. Based upon HH&C’s Verified Complaint and exhibits, and the evidence presented by HH&C in opposition to the dismissal motion, Judge Nehring knew that Capital Suisse had no employees, offices, assets, or bank accounts in the BVI. No negotiations, meetings, or

⁷The sole decision cited by Capital Suisse, *Karl Koch Erecting Co. v. New York Convention Ctr. Dev’p. Corp.*, 838 F.2d 656 (2d Cir. 1988), provides no support for this assertion. In *Karl Koch*, construction contracts for the construction of a convention center in New York City specified that a contractor must bring legal action in New York state court in Manhattan. The Second Circuit specifically did not decide whether this forum selection clause was one-sided, because the developer interpreted the clause to govern all lawsuits, and because “the clause [made] no sense” if interpreted to be one-sided. *See* 838 F.2d at 656-57. Capital Suisse cites no other court decision with a one-sided forum selection clause, much less any decision upholding one.

telephone conferences with HH&C occurred there. No witnesses or documents were there, and, significantly, no assets could be recovered there.⁸

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